“‘Our Community is Committed to Success for Every Child, Every Day”

UAAE;_I:E,!‘;, 4@—’ .: 5555555 Happy Valley Elementary School District
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT Board of Trustees
Special Board Meeting Agenda
October 17, 2024 @ 5:00 p.m.
Happy Valley Elementary School Cafeteria
17480 Palm Ave., Anderson, CA 96007
OPEN SESSION -5:00 PM
1.0 Call to Order
2.0 Roll Call
3.0 Pledge of Allegiance
4.0 Approval of Agenda
5.0  Public Comment — Public Session Items not on the agenda, but within the jurisdiction of this

6.0

7.0

body, may be addressed at this time or be submitted to the Superintendent in writing for Board
consideration as an agenda item. Items not on the agenda are restricted in response and action by
the Board and its members. A three-minute limit is set for each speaker on all items. The total
time for public input on each item is limited to 20 minutes (Government Code 54952). In order
to protect the rights of all involved, complaints about employees should be addressed through the
District complaint process. Speaking about a personnel issue at a Board meeting may prevent the
Board from being able to act on it. Please see an administrator to initiate the complaint process.

5.1  Public Comment Session Opened
5.2 Items on the Agenda

5.3  Items not on the Agenda

5.4  Public Comment Session Closed

Discussion/Action Items:

6.1 Discussion/Action: Review Board Policy 6170.1 — Transitional Kindergarten
6.2  Discussion/Action: Review Board Policy/Regulation 5111 - Admissions

Adjournment of Special Board Meeting




CSBA Sample District Policy Manual
CSBA Sample Manual Site

Policy 6170.1: Transitional Kindergarten Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 10/01/2015 | Last Revised Date: 12/01/20242023 | Last Reviewed
Date: 12/01/20242023

CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that maintain kindergarten and may be
revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 33050, as amended by SB 114 (Ch. 48,
Statutes of 2023), prohibits the waiver of specified provisions related to transitional kindergarten
(TK) and kindergarten provided for in Education Code 48000-48003. For more information on
waivers, see BP 1431 - Waivers.

Education Code 48000 provides that children are eligible for kindergarten enroliment if they have
their fifth birthday on or before September 1 in that school year; see AR 5111 - Admission.
Pursuant to Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130 {Ch: 44; Statutes of 2021) and AB 167
{Ch: 252; Statutes of 2024),SB 114, for the 2021-222023-24 school year, districts are required to
admit any child whose fifth birthday is between September 2 and PecemberApril 2 to a
transitional kindergarten (TK) program as a condition of apportionment and revises thephases in
timespans for mandatory admittance requirements te be phased in from the 2022-23 schoeol year
te until the 2025-26 school year, at which time districts are required to admit any child who has
their fourth birthday by September 1, as described below.

I s The California Department of Education’s (CDE), “Universal Prekindergarten FAQs” and
"Transitional Kindergarten FAQs," the California Department of Education (CDE) provides that the
laws governing TK programs apply equally to all districts ineluding basic aid available on its
website, provide guidance to districts: Distriets with questions about the application on the
implementation of the 7K mandatery admittance requirements to basie aiduniversal
prekindergarten and TK programs. Additionally, CDE has developed a universal prekindergarten
resources website, “Universal PreKindergarten, California’s Great Start,” designed for use by
districts sheuld econsult legal eounselthat operate a California State Preschool Program (CSPP),
Head Start, and/or TK program.

Education Code 48000 defines TK as the first year of a two-year kindergarten program that uses a
modified kindergarten curriculum that is age and developmentally appropriate. Many of the
requirements applicable to kindergarten (e.g., class size, minimum school day, facilities) are also
applicable to TK. The district will receive funding based on average daily attendance (ADA) for
students in a TK program that meets the requirements specified in Education Code 48000.

Education Code 8281.5; as added by AB 130; establishes established the California
Prekindergarten Planning and Implementation Grant Program as an early learning initiative with
the goal of expanding access to classroom-based prekindergarten programs. The program
allocates funding to all districts that operate kindergarten programs through minimum base grants,
enrollment grants based on a district's kindergarten enrollment, and supplemental grants based on
a district's percentage of unduplicated students. Grant funds may be used for costs associated
with creating or expanding preschool programs through the Califernia State Preschool Program
{CSPR)CSPP or TK programs, or to establish or strengthen partnerships with other providers of

190



prekindergarten education within the district, including Head Start programs, to ensure that high-
quality options for prekindergarten education are available for four-year-old children. Allowable
costs include, but are not necessarily limited to, planning costs, hiring and recruitment costs, staff
training and professional development, classroom materials, and supplies.

Education Code 17/375; as amended by AB 130 and AB 167; establishes Since funds for this
Statutes of 2023), to allocate or prorate unexpended funds from the California Prekindergarten
Planning and Implementation Grant Programs to districts for costs associated with the educational
expenses of current and future CSPP, TK, and kindergarten professionals that support their
attainment of required credentials, permits, or professional development in early childhood
instruction or child development, including developing competencies in serving inclusive
classrooms and dual language learners.

Education Code 17375, as amended by SB 114, extends the time that funds from the California
Preschool, Transitional Kindergarten, and Full-Day Kindergarten Facilities Grant Program te
provide, which provides one-time grants to school districts to construct new school facilities or
retrofit existing school facilities including for the purpose of providing TK classrooms-:

CDE;, are available for encumbrance or expenditure by the State Allocation Board.

The Governing Board desires to offer a high-quality transitional kindergarten (TK) program for
eligible children who do not yet meet the minimum age criterion for kindergarten. The TK program
shall assist students in developing the academic, social, and emotional skills needed to succeed in
kindergarten and beyond.

The district's TK program shall be the first year of a two-year kindergarten program. (Education
Code 48000)

The Board encourages ongoing collaboration among district preschool staff, other preschool
providers, elementary teachers, administrators, and parents/guardians in the development,

implementation, and evaluation of the district's TK program.

Eligibility

for mandatory admittance requirements to be phased in from the 2022-23 school year to the
2025-26 school year.CSBA NOTE: While children are not required to attend Kindergarten or TK,
all school districts are required to provide TK to age-eligible children pursuant to Education Code
48000. According to CDE's, “Universal Prekindergarten FAQs,” no age-eligible child may be denied
access to TK by being placed on a waiting list.

The district's TK program shall admit children as follows: (Education Code 48000):

1—For the 2021-22 school year,; children whose fifth birthday is between September 2 through
December 2

191



2—For the 2022-23 school year, children whese fifth birthday is between September 2 and
February 2

3:1.For the 2023-24 school year, children whose fifth birthday is between September 2 and
April 2

4.2.For the 2024-25 school year, children whose fifth birthday is between September 2 and
June 2

5.3.For the 2025-26 school year, and in each school year thereafter, children who turn four by
September 1

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167, a child's
eligibility for TK enrollment may not impact family eligibility for a preschoeol or childcare program:

A child's eligibility for TK enrollment shall not impact family eligibility for a preschool or childcare
program: {Education Code 48000)., including, but not limited to, a Head Start program, a childcare
center serving children through an alternative payment program, a general childcare and
development program, a California State Preschool Program (CSPP), a migrant childcare and
development program, childcare and development services for children with special needs, or a
program serving children through a CalWORKSs Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3 program. (Education
Code 48000)

‘ CSBA NOTE: CDE's “Fransitional Kindergarten, "Universal Prekindergarten FAQs-," clarify that
\ children are required to have documentation of required immunizations or a valid exemption prior
\ to admission to TK. For information about required immunizations and exemptions, see BP/AR

5141.31 - Immunizations.

Parents/guardians of eligible children shall be notified of the availability of the TK program and of
the age, residency, immunization, and any other enrollment requirements. Enrollment in the TK
program shall be voluntary.

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. If the district chooses to allow kindergarten-
eligible children to enroll in the TK program, CDE recommends in its, “Universal Prekindergarten
FAQs,” that the district establish criteria to determine selection requirements. The parent/guardian
of a kindergarten-eligible child who is enrolled in TK must, at the end of the year, sign a
Kindergarten Continuance Form verifying agreement with the child enrolling in kindergarten the
following year; see section "Continuation into Kindergarten" below.

On a case-by-case basis, a child whose fifth birthday is on or before September 1 may be admitted
into the district's TK program upon request of a child's parents/guardians, if the Superintendent or
designee, determines that it is in the child's best interest.

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 48000; as amended
by AB 130 and AB 167, the district may, at its discretion, determine whether to allow admittance of
children whose fifth birthday is after the date specified for admittance for the applicable year as
described above. Such students may be admitted at any time during the school year, including at
the beginning of the year. Education Code 48000 provides that districts will not receive ADA
apportionment for a child whose birthday is after the date specified for the applicable year until the
child's fifth birthday.

192



At any time during the school year, the district may admit into the TK program a child whose fifth
birthday is after the date specified for admittance for the applicable year as described above,
provided that upon the recommendation of the Superintendent or designee recommends, the Board
determines that enrollment in a TK program is in the child's best interest and the child's
parents/guardians approve. Prior to such enrollment, the child's parents/guardians shall be
provided information regarding the advantages and disadvantages and any other explanatory
information about the effect of early admittance. (Education Code 48000)

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional and may be deleted by districts that do not allow
early enrollment children in TK. Pursuant to Education Code 48000.15, as amended by SB 141, for
the 2023-24 and 2024-25 school years, a district that offers TK to early enrollment children must
concurrently offer enrollment in a CSPP program, if offered by the district, space permitting. The
district may enroll an early enrollment child in a CSPP program operated by the district regardless of
income, after all other eligible children have been enrolled. Districts will not receive ADA
apportionment for an early enrollment child admitted to TK until the child's fifth birthday. For more
information on district preschool programs, see BP/AR 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood
Education.

Additionally, the district may enroll an early enrollment child in TK whose fourth birthday is
between June 3 and September 1, inclusive, preceding the school year during which they are
enrolled in TK. The Superintendent or designee shall maintain any classroom that includes an early
enrollment child with a classroom enrollment that does not exceed 20 students and an adult-to-
student ratio of at least one adult to every 10 students. Additionally, if an early enrollment child is
enrolled in TK, the district shall concurrently offer enrollment to the child in the district’s CSPP,

subject to available space. (Education Code 48000.15)

Curriculum and Instruction

The district's TK program shall be based on a modified kindergarten curriculum that is age and
developmentally appropriate. (Education Code 48000)

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48000 states the Legislature's intent that the TK curriculum be
aligned to the California Preschool Learning Foundations developed by CDE. These standards
address essential knowledge and skills in the subject areas listed below. The standards and
companion preschool curriculum frameworks are available on CDE's web site:website.

Pursuant to Education Code 8203.3, CDE in consultation with the California Department of Social
Services, is responsible for establishing and updating prekindergarten learning development
guidelines that focus on preparing children for kindergarten, including developmental milestones,
assessment, and suggested methods for achievement.

The program shall be aligned with the preschool learning foundations and preschool curriculum
frameworks developed by the California Department of Education (CDE). It shall be designed to
facilitate students' development in essential knowledge and skills related to language and literacy,
mathematics, physical development, health, visual and performing arts, science, history-social
science, English language development, and social-emotional development.

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Education
Code 37202 permits districts to maintain TK and kindergarten classes for different lengths of time
during the school day, either at the same or a different school site. Districts offering TK classes for
different lengths of time are still required to meet the minimum and maximum length of school day

193



provided in law. Pursuant to Education Code 46111; as amended by AB 430, 46115, and 46117, at
the kindergarten and TK level the minimum school day is three hours (180 minutes), including
recess but excluding noon intermission, and the maximum school day is four hours (240 minutes),
excluding recess, except for students in expanded learning opportunity programs intended to
supplement instructional time provided by a district pursuant to Education Code 46120 or if the
district has adopted an extended-day kindergarten pursuant to Education Code 8973. However,
pursuant to Education Code 46119, if the district has fewer than 40 kindergarten students, the
Governing Board may apply to the Superintendent of Public Instruction to maintain two
kindergarten classes of 150 minutes each, including recesses, taught on the same day by the same
teacher. Also see BP/AR 5148.2 - Before/After School Programs and AR 6112 - School Day.

Pursuant to Education Code 48003, districts are required to provide an annual report to CDE
regarding the type of kindergarten program offered by the district, including part day, full day, or
both. The California Basic Educational Data System (CBEDS) School Information Form, located on
CDE's web sitewebsite, requires a report on the type of TK program offered.

The Board shall establish the length of the school day in the district's TK program, which shall be at
least three hours but no more than four hours long, including recess but excluding noon
intermission, except for TK students enrolled in expanded learning opportunity programs provided
by the district pursuant to Education Code 46120. If the district has adopted an extended-day
kindergarten, the length of the school day for the TK program may be different than the length of
the school day for the kindergarten program either at the same or different school sites. The
Superintendent or designee shall annually report to CDE as to whether the district's TK programs
are offered full day, part day, or both. (Education Code 8973, 37202, 46111, 46115, 46117, 48003)

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 8281.5, as added by AB 130 and amended by AB 167, requires

lictei . 9’ b the California Prekind Planning and tmol .
Grant Program to develop a plan for consideration by the Board at a public meeting on or before
June 30, 2022 for how all children in the attendance area of the district will have aceess to full-day
learning programs the year before kindergarten that meet the needs of parents/guardians;
including through partnerships with the district's expanded learning offerings; the After School
Education and Safety Program; the CSPP, Head Start programs; and other community-based early
learning and care programs:
The Superintendent or designee shall develep a plancollaborate with parents/guardians and relevant
community groups, in accordance with the plan developed for how all children in the attendance
area of the district will have access to full-day learning programs the year before kindergarten that
meet the needs of parents/guardians, including through partnerships with the district's expanded
learning offerings, the After School Education and Safety Program, the Califernia State Preschool
Program (CSPP);, Head Start programs, and other community-based early learning and care
programs. The Superintendent or designee shall present such plan for consideration by the Board at
a public meeting on or before June 30; 2022, (Education Code 8281.5)

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. According
to CDE's “Fransitional Kindergarten, "Universal Prekindergarten FAQs," it is the intent of the law to
provide separate and unique experiences for TK and kindergarten students. However, districts have
flexibility to determine how best to meet the curricular needs of each child and whether TK and
kindergarten students may be enrolled in the same classrooms.

TK students may be placed in the same classrooms as kindergarten students when necessary,
provided that the instructional program is differentiated to meet student needs.

194



TK students may be commingled in the same classroom with four-year-old students from a CSPP
program as long as the commingled program meets all of the requirements of each program as well
as the following requirements: (Education Code 8207, 48000):

1. The classroom does not include students enrolled in TK for a second year or students
enrolled in a regular kindergarten

2. An early childhood environment rating scale, as specified in 5 CCR 18281, is completed for
the classroom

3. All children enrolled for 10 or more hours per week are evaluated using the Desired Results
Developmental Profile, as specified in 5 CCR 18272

4. The classroom is taught by a teacher that holds a credential issued by the Commission on
Teacher Credentialing (CTC) in accordance with Education Code 44065 and 44256

5. The classroom is in compliance with the adult-child ratio specified in Education Code 8241
6. Contractors of the district report the services, revenues, and expenditures for children in the

preschool program in accordance with 5 CCR 18068 except for contractors of the TK
program

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48000; as amended by AB 130, requires districts to maintain an
average TK class enrollment of not more than 24 students for each school site:

The district shall maintain an average TK class enrollment of not more than 24 students for each
school site:, not including students who are continuously enrolled in and meet the minimum day

requirement for independent study for more than 14 school days in a school year. (Education Code
48000)

Staffing

CSBA NOTE: To be qualified to teach a TK class, the teacher must possess an appropriate multiple
subjects or early childhood education credential issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing
(CTC) authorizing instruction in TK. Education Code 48000 establishes additional requirements for
credentialed teachers who are first assigned to a TK class after July 1, 2015, as provided below. CTC
may issue a one-year emergency specialist teaching permit in early childhood education that
authorizes teaching all subjects in a self-contained TK general education classroom, provided that
certain conditions are met as specified in Education Code 44300.

Additionally, CTC has amended 5 CCR 80067, and adopted 5 CCR 80067.1 and 80067.2, which are
pending approval by the Office of Administrative Law as of October 2023, pertaining to the
prekindergarten-grade 3 early childhood education specialist credential. The proposed credential is
designed to provide individuals who already hold a bachelor’s degree and have gained experience in
early childhood education through their work, to have an expedited pathway to earning the
credential to teach in the prekindergarten-grade 3 environment. See CTC Coded Correspondence
23-02 for more information regarding the proposed regulations. For more information about the
Early Childhood Education Emergency Specialist Permit/Emergency Transitional Kindergarten
Permit, see AR 4112.2 -- Certification.

195



TK assignments are subject to assighnment monitoring and reporting by the County Superintendent
of Schools in accordance with Education Code 44258.9.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that teachers assigned to teach in TK classes possess a
teaching credential or permit from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC)CTC that
authorizes such instruction.

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 430SB 114, extends until August 1,
20232025, the requirement for credentialed teachers who are first assigned to a TK class to meet
additional qualifications, as described below.

A credentialed teacher who is first assigned to a TK class after July 1, 2015, shall, by August 1,
20232025, have at least 24 units in early childhood education and/or child development,
comparable professional experience in a preschool setting, and/or a child development teacher
permit or an early childhood specialist credential issued by CTC. (Education Code 48000)

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 8281.5; as added by AB 430; permits the use of funding from the
California Prekindergarten Planning and Implementation Grant Program for the purpose of
professional development, including, but not limited to, developing competencies in serving
inclusive classrooms and dual language learners:, and which as amended by SB 114 and SB 141,
extends the time that CDE is authorized to allocate or prorate unexpended funds.

The Superintendent or designee may provide professional development as needed to ensure that
TK teachers are knowledgeable about the standards and effective instructional methods for
teaching young children, including, but not limited to, developing competencies in serving inclusive
classrooms and dual language learners.

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 430SB 114, requires districts to;
commeneing with the 2022-23 school year; maintain an average of at least one adult for every 12
students for TK classrooms and, contingent upon an appropriation of funding, maintain an average
of at least one adult for every 10 students commencing with the 2023-242025-26 school year.

The district shall; eommeneing with the 2022-23 schoel year; maintain an average of at least one
adult for every 12 students for TK classrooms and, contingent upon an appropriation of funding,
maintain an average of at least one adult for every 10 students commencing with the 2023-
242025-26 school year. (Education Code 48000)

Continuation to Kindergarten

CSBA NOTE: The following section is consistent with guidance in CDE's "Fransitional
KindergartenUniversal Prekindergarten FAQs."

There is no requirement that an age-eligible student complete a year of TK or kindergarten before
enrolling in first grade. Pursuant to Education Code 48010, a student must be six years old on or
before September 1 to be eligible for first grade. However, if a student is not six years old by
September 1, the student may be admitted to first grade in accordance with Education Code 48011,
if the child has completed one year of kindergarten or, in some cases, has attended some
kindergarten. CDE'’s, “Universal Prekindergarten FAQs," note that a year of TK is not equivalent to a
year of kindergarten, for purposes of enrolling a 5-year-old student in first grade pursuant to

Education Code 48011.

196



Students who complete the TK program shall be eligible to continue in kindergarten the following
school year. Parents/guardians of such students shall not be required to submit a signed
Kindergarten Continuance Form for kindergarten attendance.

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that allow kindergarten-eligible
children to enroll in TK; see "Eligibility" section above. When such students are subsequently
enrolled in kindergarten, the district is required to obtain a signed Kindergarten Continuance Form
in order to receive kindergarten ADA for those children since they would otherwise be age-eligible
for first grade. A sample Kindergarten Continuance Form is available on CDE’s, “Universal
Prekindergarten FAQs” website. CDE recommends that approval for a student to continue in
kindergarten not be sought until near the end of the year of TK, since permission obtained
unreasonably far in advance could be found invalid.

However, whenever children who would otherwise be age-eligible for kindergarten are enrolled in
TK, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain a Kindergarten Continuance Form signed by the
parent/guardian near the end of the TK year consenting to the child's enrollment in kindergarten
the following year.

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 46300, the district may not include for ADA purposes the
attendance of any student for more than two years in kindergarten or for more than two years in a
combination of TK and kindergarten.

A student shall not attend more than two years in kindergarten or a combination of TK and
kindergarten. (Education Code 46300)

Assessment

CSBA NOTE: The following section may be revised to reflect district practice. One assessment
resource for TK students is CDE's Desired Results Developmental Profile, which is designed to
assess the developmental progression of all children from early infancy to kindergarten entry.

The Superintendent or designee may develop or identify appropriate formal and/or informal
assessments of TK students' development and progress. The Superintendent or designee shall
monitor and regularly report to the Board regarding program implementation, the progress of
students in meeting related academic standards, and student preparedness for future education.

Policy Reference UPDATE Service

Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691

All rights reserved.

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for
the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the
subject matter of the policy.

State Description

5 CCR 18000-1843418308 Child eareEarly Learning and development programsCare
Programs

5 CCR 48066880067 Attendanece and expenditure reportsProfessional Clear Early
Childhood Education Specialist Instruction Credential

5CCR 18272 Developmental profile

197



5CCcR 18281
Ed. Code 17375

Ed. Code 33050
Ed. Code 37202
Ed. Code 44065
Ed. Code 44256

Ed. Code 44258.9

Ed. Code 44300

Ed. Code 46111

Ed. Code 46114-46119
Ed. Code 46120

Ed. Code 46300

Ed. Code 48000

Ed. Code 48000.15
Ed. Code 48002

Ed. Code 48003
Ed. Code 48010
Ed. Code 48011

Ed. Code 48200
Ed. Code 8203.3

Ed. Code 8207
Ed. Code 8241
Ed. Code 83228281.5

Ed. Code 8970-8974
Ed- Code 8973

Management Resources

California Department of Education

Publication

Environment rating scales
California Preschool, Transitional Kindergarten, and Full-Day

Kindergarten Facilities Grant Program

Waiver authority and exceptions

Equal time in all schools

Issuance of and functions requiring credentials
Authorization for teaching credentials

County superintendent review of teacher assignment

Emergency permits

Kindergarten; hours of attendance

Minimum school day; kindergarten

Expanded learning opportunities

Method of computing average daily attendance

Minimum age of admission for kindergarten; transitional
kindergarten

Early enrollment in transitional kindergarten

Evidence of minimum age required to enter kindergarten or
first grade

Kindergarten annual report

Minimum age of admission to first grade

Promotion/retention following one year of kindergarten
Compulsory attendance

Development of pre-kindergarten learning development
guidelines

California State Preschool Program administration
Staffing ratios for center-based program

California Prekindergarten Planning and Implementation
Grant Program

Early primary program, including extended-day kindergarten
Extended-day kindergarten

Description

Desired Results Developmental Profile: A Developmental
Continuum from Early Infancy up to Kindergarten Entry,
2015

198



California Department of Education
Publication

California Department of Education
Publication

California Department of Education
Publication

California Department of Education
Publication

California Department of Education
Publication

CaliforniaD £ Ed .
Publicati

California Department of Education
Publication

California Department of Education
Publication

California Department of Education
Publication

CSBA Publicaki

(https:/www.cde.ca.gov/sp/cd/ci/documents/drdp2015presc
hool.pdf

California Preschool Curriculum Framework, Vol. 1, 2010
(https:/www.cde.ca.gov/sp/cd/re/documents/psframeworkk

voll.pdf)

California Preschool Curriculum Framework, Vol. 2, 2011
(https:/www.cde.ca.gov/sp/cd/re/documents/psframeworkv
ol2.pdf

California Preschool Curriculum Framework, Vol. 3, 2013
(https:/www.cde.ca.gov/sp/cd/re/documents/preschoolfram
eworkvol3.pdf)

California Preschool Learning Foundations, Vol. 1, 2008
(https:/www.cde.ca.gov/sp/cd/re/psfoundations.asp#psfoun

dvoll)
Transitional Kindergarten FAQs

Teachers; 2013
California Preschool Learning Foundations, Vol. 2, 2010
(https:/www.cde.ca.gov/sp/cd/re/psfoundations.asp#psfoun

dvol2)

California Preschool Learning Foundations, Vol. 3, 2012
(https:/www.cde.ca.gov/sp/cd/re/psfoundations.asp#psfoun

dvol3)

Universal Prekindergarten FAQs
(https:/www.cde.ca.gov/ci/gs/em/kinderfag.asp#universal)

What B le of Education Can-DoAl Kind

CA Commission on Teacher Credentialing Proposed Amendments to Title 5 of the California Code of

Publication

CSBA Publication

Regulations Pertaining to the PK-3 Childhood Education
Specialist Credential, Coded Correspondence 23-02,
February 10, 2023 (https:/www.ctc.ca.gov/docs/default-
source/commission/coded/2023/coded-23-
02.pdf?sfvrsn=973026b1 9)

Advancing Universal Transitional Kindergarten, April 2022
(https:/www.csba.org/-
/media/CSBA/Files/GovernanceResources/GovernanceBrief
s/GovBrief-UTK-
04062022.ashx?la=en&rev=99c007ecdf1f4b128d38a35191

3740d8)

199



CSBA Publication

Website
Website
Website
Website
Website
Website
Website

Website

Cross References

Code
0500

1220
1220
4112.2
4112.2
4131
5111
5111
51111
51111
5123
5123
5141.22

The Importance of Early Childhood Education Programs,
September 2019

(https:/www.csba.org/-
/media/CSBA/Files/GovernanceResources/GovernanceBrief
s/201909CSBA_Governance-Brief Early-
Education.ashx?la=en&rev=8b0259f73a574f62aae4e8b047

db4eed)
CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services

Transitional Kindergarten California
California Kindergarten Association
Commission on Teacher Credentialing
CSBA

California Department of Education

California Department of Education, Universal
PreKindergarten, California’s Great Start
(https:/express.adobe.com/page/0OZrg3IsP1GE8b/)

California Office of Administrative Law

(https://oal.ca.gov/)

Description
Accountability

Citizen Advisory Committees
Citizen Advisory Committees
Certification

Certification

Staff Development

Admission

Admission

District Residency

District Residency
Promotion/Acceleration/Retention
Promotion/Acceleration/Retention

Infectious Diseases

200



5141.22
5141.3
5141.3
5141.31
5141.31
5141.32
5145.6
5145.6-E(1)
5148.2
5148.2
5148.3
5148.3
6011
6020
6020
6111
6112
6112
6141
6141
6151
6161.1
6161.1
6161.1-E(1)
6162.5
6174
6174

Infectious Diseases

Health Examinations

Health Examinations

Immunizations

Immunizations

Health Screening For School Entry
Parent/Guardian Notifications
Parent/Guardian Notifications
Before/After School Programs
Before/After School Programs
Preschool/Early Childhood Education
Preschool/Early Childhood Education
Academic Standards

Parent Involvement

Parent Involvement

School Calendar

School Day

School Day

Curriculum Development And Evaluation

Curriculum Development And Evaluation

Class Size

Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials
Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials

Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials

Student Assessment
Education For English Learners

Education For English Learners

201



Board Policy Manual
CSBA Policy Management Console

Policy 5111: Admission Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 04/01/2015 | Last Revised Date: 03/2022 | Last Reviewed Date: 03/2022

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48200, all children ages 6-18 years are subject to compulsory
full-time education, unless specifically exempted. See BP/AR 5112.1 - Exemptions from Attendance for
further information about such exemptions.

Pursuant to Education Code 234.7, asadded by AB 699 (Ch 493 Statutes of 2017) districts are

mandated to adopt policy, equivalent to a model policy developed by the California Attorney General,
which prohibits the solicitation or collection of information regarding the immigration or citizenship
status of students and their families, unless otherwise required by law. See the Office of the Attorney
General's publication "Promoting a Safe and Secure Learning Environment for All: Guidance and Model
Policies to Assist California's K-12 Schools in Responding to Immigration Issues," available on its web
site. These requirements are addressed in the following policy and BP/AR 5111.1 - District Residency.

In Plyler v. Doe, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that, under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S.
Constitution, students cannot be denied a free public education on the basis of their citizenship or
immigration status, including their status as undocumented children. As discussed in a Dear Colleague
Letter and fact sheet, "Information on the Rights of All Children to Enroll in School," jointly issued by the
U.S. Department of Justice's Civil Rights Division and U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil
Rights, it may be a violation of federal law for districts to adopt a policy or procedure that prohibits or
discourages children from enrolling in school because they or their parents/guardians are not United
States citizens or are undocumented. For further discussion of these issues, see CSBA's Legal Guidance

en-"Providing All Children Equal Access to Education, Regardless of Immigration Status." Also see
CSBA's legal-guidance-alse-includesa sample board resolution "Providing All Children Equal Access to
Education, Regardless of Immigration Status," available on its web site, that may be used to inform
students, parents/guardians, and the community of students' rights under current law to attend a district
school regardless of their citizenship or immigration status.

The Governing Board encourages the enrollment and appropriate placement of all schoel-aged-children
who are eligible for enrollment in school. The Superintendent or designee shall inform parents/guardians
of children seeking admission to a district school atany-grade-level about admission requirements and
shall assist them with enrollment procedures.

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. The district
should align the application windows for various attendance options in a manner that will allow the
district to meet legal requirements pertaining to admissions priorities. See BP/AR 5116.1 - Intradistrict

Open Enrollment and AR 5117 - Interdistrict Attendance;and BR/AR 5118 - Open-Enrellment-Act
Transfers for application windows applicable to those options.

The Superintendent or designee shall announce and publicize the timeline and process for registration of
students at district schools. Applications for intradistrict or interdistrict enrollment shall be subject to the
timelines specified in applicable Board policies and administrative regulations.

All appropriate staff shall receive training on district admission policies and procedures, including
information regarding the types of documentation that can and cannot be requested.

75



Verification of Admission Eligibility

CSBA NOTE: Admission requirements include age criteria for grades Transitional Kindergarten-1; see
the accompanying administrative regulation and BP 6170.1 - Transitional Kindergarten. Other admission
requirements are addressed in AR 5111.1 - District Residency, BP/AR 5141.31 - Immunizations, and AR
5141.32 - Health Screening for School Entry.

Before enrolling any child in a district school, the Superintendent or designee shall verify the child's age,
residencey within the district, immunization, and other applicable eligibility criteria specified in law, the
accompanying administrative regulation, or other applicable Board policy or administrative regulation.

CSBA NOTE: Although a districts may require proof of that a student's residencey is within the district
(e.g., utility or phone bill, property tax payment receipt, rental property lease agreement, etc.), inquiring
into the citizenship or immigration status of students and their families is theyLaFeprohlblted pursuant
to Education Code 234.

emmw%m@%%m Consequently, con5|stent Wlth the

Attorney General's model policy developed pursuant to Education Code 234.7, districts may not request
a student's or parent/guardian's green card visa, passport, voter reglstratlon or other documentatlon
that indicates citizenship status, =
except when collection of such information is required to comply with state or federal reporting
requirements for special programs, such as language instruction programs for English Learners. Even for
those limited purposes, the information should not be collected during the admission process to avoid
discouraging immigrant children from enrolling in school, in violation of law. Also see BP/AR 5111.1 -
District Residency.

In addition, pursuant to Education Code 49076.7, a district is prohibited from soliciting or collecting
social security numbers or the last four digits of social security numbers of students or their
parents/guardians, unless otherwise required to do so by state or federal law. One such exception is the
collection of the last four digits of the social security number for the purpose of establishing eligibility for
a federal benefit program. Also see BP/AR 5125 - Student Records.

The district shall not inquire into or request documentation of a student's social security number or the
last four digits of the social security number or the citizenship or immigration status of the student or the
student'shis/her family members. (Education Code 234.7, 49076.7)

76



However, such information may be collected when required by state or federal law or to comply with
requirements for special state or federal programs. In any such situation, the information shall be
collected separately from the school enrollment process and the Superintendent or designee shall explain
the limited purpose for which the information is collected. Enroliment in a district school shall not be
denied on the basis of any such information of the student or the student'shis/her parents/guardians
obtained by the district, or the student's or parent/guardian's refusal to provide such information to the
district.

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for use by districts that maintain grades K-1. In addition to the
methods specified in Education Code 48002 for documenting a child's age for admittance to
kindergarten or first grade, as listed in the accompanying administrative regulation, the Governing Board
is authorized to prescribe alternative means for proof of a child's age. The following paragraph may be
revised to reflect any such alternative means approved by the Board. The following paragraph also
reflects the Attorney General's model policy;developed pursuantte-Education Code 234.7; requiring
that such alternative means be available to all persons regardless of immigration status, citizenship
status, or national origin.

School registration information shall list all possible means of documenting a child's age for entry into
grades K-1 as authorized by Education Code 48002 or otherwise prescribed by the Board. Any
alternative document allowed by the district shall be one that all persons can obtain regardless of
immigration status, citizenship status, or national origin and shall not reveal information related to
citizenship or immigrant status.

CSBA NOTE: State and federal law require the immediate enrollment of homeless youth (Education
Code 48850, 48852.7; 42 USC 11432), foster youth (Education Code 48853.5), and former juvenile
court school students (Education Code 48645.5) regardless of their ability to provide the school with
records normally required for enrollment; see BP/AR 6173 - Education for Homeless Children, AR
6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth, and AR 6173.3 - Education for Juvenile Court School Students. In
addition, Education Code 49701 requires the district to facilitate the enrollment of children of military
families and to ensure that they are not placed at a disadvantage due to difficulty in the transfer of their
records from previous school districts and/or variations in entrance or age requirements; see BP/AR
6173.2 - Education of Children of Military Families.

The Superintendent or designee shall immediately enroll a homeless student, foster youth, student who
has had contact with the juvenile justice system, or a child of a military family regardless of outstanding
fees or fines owed to the student's last school, lack of clothing normally required by the school, such as
school uniforms, or his/her-an inability to produce previous academic, medical, or other records normally
required for enrollment. (Education Code 48645.5, 48850, 48852.7, 48853.5, 49701; 42 USC 11432)

Policy Reference Disclaimer:
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject
matter of the policy.

State Description

17 CCR 6000-6075 School attendance immunization requirements
5 CCR 200 Promotion from kindergarten to first grade
5CCR 201 Admission to high school

77



Ed. Code 234.7

Ed. Code 46300

Ed. Code 46600

Ed. Code 48000
Ed. Code 48002

Ed. Code 48010
Ed. Code 48011
Ed. Code 48050-48053
Ed. Code 48200

Ed. Code 48350-48361
Ed. Code 48645.5

Ed. Code 48850-48859
Ed. Code 49076

Ed. Code 49076.7

Ed. Code 49408

EdCode 494529

Ed. Code 49700-49703

Civil Code 51

Code of Civil Procedure 1002.7

H&S Code 120325-120380
H&S Code 121475-121520

Federal
42 USC 11431-11435

5USC 552a

Management Resources
CA Office of the Attorney General
Publication

Court Decision

Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship
status

Computation of average daily attendance, inclusion of
kindergarten and transitional kindergarten

Agreements for admission of students desiring interdistrict
attendance

Minimum age of admission (kindergarten)

Evidence of minimum age required to enter kindergarten or
first grade

Minimum age of admission (first grade)
Admission from kindergarten or other school; minimum age
Nonresidents

Children between ages of 6 and 18 years (compulsory full-
time education)

Open Enrollment Act
Enrollment of former juvenile court school students
Educational placement of homeless and foster youth

Access to records by persons without written consent or
under judicial order

Student records; data privacy; social security numbers
Information foref use in emergencies
Healt! . .

Education of children of military families

Unruh Civil Rights Act

Provision in enrollment agreement waiving legal right,
remedy, forum, proceeding or procedure; criminal sexual
assault or sexual battery

Educational and child care facility immunization requirements
Tuberculosis tests for students

Description
McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act

Nete Refusalto-disclose social security-numberRecords

maintained on individuals

Description

Promoting Safe & Secure Learning Environment for All:
Guidance & Model Policies to Assist CA K-12 Schools in
Responding to Immigration Issues, 4/2018

Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202 (1982)

78



CSBA Publication

U.S. DOJ & DOE Civil Rights Joint
Publication

U.S. DOJ & DOE Civil Rights Joint
Publication

U.S. DOJ & DOE Civil Rights Joint
Publication

Website

Website
Website
Website
Website

Cross References

Code
51111

51111
51121
51121
5112.2
5116.1
5116.1
5117
5117
5119
5123
5123
5125
5125
5141.3
5141.3
5141.31

Legal Guidance on Providing All Children Equal Access to
Education, Regardless of Immigration Status, February 2017

Information on the Rights of All Children to Enroll in School:
Questions and Answers for States, School Districts and
Parents, May 8, 2014

Fact Sheet: Information on the Rights of All Children to
Enroll in School, May 8, 2014

Dear Colleague Letter: School Enrollment Procedures, May
8,2014

California Department of Education

(https://www.cde.ca.gov/);Health-Care Coverageand
Enrollment-Assistance

California Office of the Attorney General

U.S. Department of Justice

CSBA

U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights

Description
District Residency

District Residency

Exemptions From Attendance
Exemptions From Attendance
Exclusions From Attendance
Intradistrict Open Enrollment
Intradistrict Open Enrollment
Interdistrict Attendance
Interdistrict Attendance

Students Expelled From Other Districts
Promotion/Acceleration/Retention
Promotion/Acceleration/Retention
Student Records

Student Records

Health Examinations

Health Examinations

Immunizations



5141.31 Immunizations

5141.32 Health Screening For School Entry

51421 Identification And Reporting Of Missing Children
5145.12 Search And Seizure

5145.12 Search And Seizure

5145.13 Response To Immigration Enforcement
5145.13 Response To Immigration Enforcement
5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment

5145.6 Parental Notifications

5145.6-E(1) Parental Notifications

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education
5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education
6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit

6170.1 Transitional Kindergarten

6173 Education For Homeless Children

6173 Education For Homeless Children
6173-E(1) Education For Homeless Children
6173-E(2) Education For Homeless Children

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth (BP and AR)
6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families
6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families
6173.3 Education For Juvenile Court School Students

Policy Reference UPDATE Service
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691
All rights reserved.



Board Policy Manual
CSBA Policy Management Console

Regulation 5111: Admission Status: ADOPTED

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2011 | Last Revised Date: 03/2022 | Last Reviewed Date: 03/2022

CSBA NOTE: The following optional administrative regulation is for use by districts offering grades
transitional kindergarten (TK)-1.

Age of Admittance to Transitional Kindergarten, Kindergarten and First Grade

At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall enroll any eligible child whose
witb-have-his/herfifth or sixth birthday is on or before September 1 of that year into kindergarten or first
grade, as applicable. (Education Code 48000, 48010)

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130 (Ch.44, Statutes of 2021), revises the
timespans for TK admittance requirements to be phased in from the 2022-23 school year to the 2025-
26 school year. See BP 6170.1 - Transitional Kindergarten for eligibility and admission into TK.

An hild H H H ' davfrom-Sepntembe .--I- ..... 'a

ﬁqau—bee#eredﬁaieFaﬂsﬁwﬁaLkmdngaFteﬂﬂK%—pFegramAdmlssmn into tran5|t|onal klndergarten shaII be

in accordance with law and as specified in BeardRelieyBP 6170.1 - Transitional Kindergarten. (Education
Code 48000)

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 48000 authorizes the district, at-its
discretionon a case-by-case basis, to allew-enrollmentadmit children into kindergarten during the school

year mtekmdergaﬁeﬂewmgiheseheekye%ene&as&by-ease%a%under the condltlons described

below. A d

Department of Educatlon SGDE "Klndergarten in Callfornla a#seeauﬂens%hatethesome districts may

risk-being challenged-by-parents/guardiansif-it-bases early admission on test results, maturity of the

child, or preschool records to be consistent with the early admission policy and to avoid challenge by
parents/guardians whose children were denied early admission. The district might consider establishing
a process for parents/guardians who choose to challenge denial of early entry.

On a case-by-case basis, and with the approval of the child's parent/guardian, a child who will turn five
years old in a given school year may be enrolled in kindergarten-er T at any time during that school year

with-the apprevalef the child's parent/guardian; provided that: (Education Code 48000)

1. The Governing Board determines that admittance is in the best interest of the child.

2. The parent/guardian is given information regarding the advantages and disadvantages and any
other explanatory information about the effect of this early admittance.

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.

81



The Superintendent or designee shall make a recommendation to the Board regarding whether a child
should be granted early entry to kindergarten, as appropriate. In doing so, the Superintendent or designee
shall consider various factors including the availability of classroom space and any negotiated maximum
class size.

Documentation of Age/Grade

Prior to the admission of a child to kindergarten or first grade, the parent/guardian shall present proof of
the child's age. (Education Code 48002)

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48002 specifies that the method of proof of age may include any
appropriate means prescribed by the Governing Board. The following items reflect examples in
Education Code 48002 and may be revised to reflect district practice.

Although Education Code 48002 includes a passport as a possible means for determining a child's age,
the California Attorney General's model policy developed pursuant to Education Code 234.7-asadded
by AB- 699 (Ch.- 493 Statutes of 2017). states that districts should not require documentation that may
indicate a student's national origin or immigration status, such as a passport, to the exclusion of other
permissible documentation. In addition, a district may not bar or discourage a child from enrolling in
school because the child lacks a birth certificate or passport, or has one from a foreign country. See the
Office of the Attorney General's publication "Promoting a Safe and Secure Learning Environment for All:
Guidance and Model Policies to Assist California's K-12 Schools in Responding to Immigration Issues."

Evidence of the child's age may include: (Education Code 48002)

1. A certified copy of a birth certificate or a statement by the local registrar or county recorder
certifying the date of birth

2. A duly attested baptism certificate

3. A passport

4, When none of the above documents is obtainable, an affidavit of the parent/guardian
5. Other means prescribed by the Board

Policy Reference Disclaimer:

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the
board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject
matter of the policy.

State Description

17 CCR 6000-6075 School attendance immunization requirements

5 CCR 200 Promotion from kindergarten to first grade

5CCR 201 Admission to high school

Ed. Code 234.7 Student protections relating to immigration and citizenship
status

Ed. Code 46300 Computation of average daily attendance, inclusion of

kindergarten and transitional kindergarten

82



Ed. Code 46600

Ed. Code 48000
Ed. Code 48002

Ed. Code 48010
Ed. Code 48011
Ed. Code 48050-48053
Ed. Code 48200

Ed. Code 48350-48361
Ed. Code 48645.5

Ed. Code 48850-48859
Ed. Code 49076

Ed. Code 49076.7

Ed. Code 49408

Ed-Code 494529

Ed. Code 49700-49703

Civil Code 51

Code of Civil Procedure 1002.7

H&S Code 120325-120380
H&S Code 121475-121520

Federal
42 USC 11431-11435

5USC552a

Management Resources
CA Office of the Attorney General
Publication

Court Decision

CSBA Publication

Agreements for admission of students desiring interdistrict
attendance

Minimum age of admission (kindergarten)

Evidence of minimum age required to enter kindergarten or
first grade

Minimum age of admission (first grade)
Admission from kindergarten or other school; minimum age
Nonresidents

Children between ages of 6 and 18 years (compulsory full-
time education)

Open Enrollment Act
Enrollment of former juvenile court school students
Educational placement of homeless and foster youth

Access to records by persons without written consent or
under judicial order

Student records; data privacy; social security numbers
Information foref use in emergencies

Healt! . I .
Education of children of military families

Unruh Civil Rights Act

Provision in enrollment agreement waiving legal rights,
remedy, forum, proceeding or procedure; criminal sexual
assault or sexual battery

Educational and child care facility immunization requirements
Tuberculosis tests for students

Description
McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act

Nete Refusalto-disclose social security-numberRecords

maintained on individuals

Description

Promoting Safe & Secure Learning Environment for All:
Guidance & Model Policies to Assist CA K-12 Schools in
Responding to Immigration Issues, 4/2018

Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202 (1982)

Legal Guidance on Providing All Children Equal Access to
Education, Regardless of Immigration Status, February 2017

83



U.S. DOJ & DOE Civil Rights Joint
Publication

U.S. DOJ & DOE Civil Rights Joint
Publication

U.S. DOJ & DOE Civil Rights Joint
Publication

Website

Website
Website
Website
Website

Cross References

Code
51111

51111
51121
51121
5112.2
5116.1
5116.1
5117
5117
5119
5123
5123
5125
5125
5141.3
5141.3
5141.31
5141.31
5141.32

Information on the Rights of All Children to Enroll in School:

Questions and Answers for States, School Districts and
Parents, May 8, 2014

Fact Sheet: Information on the Rights of All Children to
Enroll in School, May 8, 2014

Dear Colleague Letter: School Enrollment Procedures, May
8,2014

California Department of Education

(https://www.cde.ca.gov/),Health Care Coverage and
Enrollment-Assistance

California Office of the Attorney General

U.S. Department of Justice

CSBA

U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights

Description
District Residency

District Residency

Exemptions From Attendance
Exemptions From Attendance
Exclusions From Attendance
Intradistrict Open Enrollment
Intradistrict Open Enrollment
Interdistrict Attendance
Interdistrict Attendance

Students Expelled From Other Districts
Promotion/Acceleration/Retention
Promotion/Acceleration/Retention
Student Records

Student Records

Health Examinations

Health Examinations
Immunizations

Immunizations

Health Screening For School Entry

84



51421
5145.12
5145.12
5145.13
5145.13
5145.3
5145.3
5145.6
5145.6-E(1)
5148.3
5148.3
6146.3
6146.3
6170.1
6173
6173
6173-E(1)
6173-E(2)
6173.1
6173.2
6173.2
6173.3

Policy Reference UPDATE Service

Identification And Reporting Of Missing Children
Search And Seizure

Search And Seizure

Response To Immigration Enforcement
Response To Immigration Enforcement
Nondiscrimination/Harassment
Nondiscrimination/Harassment
Parental Notifications

Parental Notifications

Preschool/Early Childhood Education
Preschool/Early Childhood Education
Reciprocity Of Academic Credit
Reciprocity Of Academic Credit
Transitional Kindergarten

Education For Homeless Children
Education For Homeless Children
Education For Homeless Children
Education For Homeless Children

Education for Foster Youth (BP and AR)

Education Of Children Of Military Families
Education Of Children Of Military Families

Education For Juvenile Court School Students

Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691

All rights reserved.

85



